IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

LEAGUE OF UNITED LATIN AMERICAN CITIZENS OF IOWA AND
MAJORITY FORWARD,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

IOWA SECRETARY OF STATE PAUL PATE, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY,
Defendant-Appellee.

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, DONALD J. TRUMP FOR
PRESIDENT, INC., NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL
COMMITTEE, NATIONAL REPLUBICAN CONGRESSIONAL
COMMITTEE, AND, THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF IOWA,

Intervenors-Appellees.

*Interlocutory Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Johnson County
Hon. Lars Anderson, District Judge*

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

Gary Dickey

DICKEY, CAMPBELL, & SAHAG LAW FIRM, PLC

301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1

Des Moines, Iowa 50309

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the district court err in holding that Plaintiffs are not likely to succeed on the merits of their claims that HF 2643 unduly burdens the right to vote under the Iowa Constitution as well as violates the equal protection and due process clauses of the Iowa Constitution?

PIC USA v. N.C. Farm P'ship, 672 N.W.2d 718 (Iowa 2003)

Max 100 L.C. v. Iowa Realty Co., 621 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Const. art. II, § 1

Chiodo v. Section 43.24 Panel, 846 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2002)

Edmonds v. Banbury, 28 Iowa 267 (1869)

Godfrey v. Iowa, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Santi v. Santi, 633 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 2001)

In Interest of Johnson, 257 N.W.2d 47 (Iowa 1977)

See Barr v. Cardell, 155 N.W. 312 (Iowa 1915)

See Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428 (1992)

McDonald v. Board of Election Commissioners of Chicago, 394 U.S. 802 (1969)

Luse v. Wray, 254 N.W.2d 324 (Iowa 1977)

1990 Iowa Legis. Serv. H.F. 2329 (Ch. 1238) (West)

Lewis v. Hughs, Civil Action No. 5:20-cv-00755-OLG, 2020 WL 4344432 (W.D. Tex. July 28, 2020), *aff'd*, No. 20-50654, 2020 WL 5511881 (5th Cir. Sept. 4, 2020)

Martin v. Kemp, 341 F. Supp. 3d 1326 (N.D. Ga. 2018)

Democratic Senatorial Campaign Comm. v. Pate, No. 20-1281 (Iowa Oct. 14, 2020)

Erickson v. Blair, 670 P.2d 749 (Colo. 1983)

Mays v. LaRose, 951 F.3d 775 (6th Cir. 2020)

Texas Democratic Party v. Abbott, 961 F.3d 389 (5th Cir. 2020)

Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S. 780 (1983)

Obama for Am. v. Husted, 697 F.3d 423 (6th Cir. 2012)

Doe v. Walker, 746 F. Supp. 2d 667 (D. Md. 2010)

Price v. N.Y. State Bd. of Elections, 540 F.3d 1010 (2d Cir. 2008)

Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330 (1972)

Tashjian v. Republican Party of Conn., 479 U.S. 208 (1986)

Stewart v. Blackwell, 444 F.3d 843 (6th Cir. 2006), *vacated and superseded on other grounds*, 473 F.3d 692 (6th Cir. 2007)

League of Women Voters of N.C. v. North Carolina, 769 F.3d 224 (4th Cir. 2014)

Hill v. Stone, 421 U.S. 289 (1975)

Jones v. U.S. Postal Serv., 20 Civ. 6516 (VM), 2020 WL 5627002 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 21, 2020)

Goosby v. Osser, 409 U.S. 512 (1973)

Ne. Ohio Coal. for the Homeless v. Husted, 837 F.3d 612 (6th Cir. 2016)

League of Women Voters of Fla., Inc. v. Detzner, 314 F. Supp. 3d 1205 (N.D. Fla. 2018)

Guare v. State, 167 N.H. 658, 117 A.3d 731, 738 (2015)

Coal. for Ed. in Dist. One v. Bd. of Elections of City of N.Y., 370 F. Supp. 42 (S.D.N.Y.), *aff'd*, 495 F.2d 1090 (2d Cir. 1974)

Bryanton v. Johnson, 902 F. Supp. 2d 983 (E.D. Mich. 2012)

Priorities USA v. State, 591 S.W.3d 448 (Mo. 2020), *reh'g denied* (Jan. 30, 2020)

Crawford v. Marion County Election Board, 553 U.S. 181 (2008)

Pub. Integrity All., Inc. v. City of Tucson, 836 F.3d 1019 (9th Cir. 2016)

Ohio Democratic Party v. Husted, 834 F.3d 620 (6th Cir. 2016)

Veasey v. Perry, 71 F. Supp. 3d 627 (S.D. Tex. 2014), *vacated in part on other grounds*, 830 F.3d 216 (5th Cir. 2016) (en banc)

Fish v. Kobach, 309 F. Supp. 3d 1048 (D. Kan. 2018), *aff'd sub nom. Fish v. Schwab*, 957 F.3d 1105 (10th Cir. 2020)

Boustani v. Blackwell, 460 F. Supp. 2d 822 (N.D. Ohio 2006)

HF 2643 § 125

Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State, No. 17-1579, 2018 WL 3192941 (Iowa June 29, 2018)

AFSCME Iowa Council 61 v. State, 928 N.W.2d 21 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 39A.2(1)(a)(1)

Iowa Code § 39A.2(1)(a)(2)

Iowa Code § 39A.2(1)(b)(1)

LSCP, LLLP, 861 N.W.2d 846 (Iowa 2015)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa Code § 53.2(4)(b)

Coggeshall v. City of Des Moines, 117 N.W. 309 (Iowa 1908)

Griffin v. Pate, 884 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 2016)

Bush v. Gore, 531 U.S. 98 (2000)

Wexler v. Anderson, 452 F.3d 1226 (11th Cir. 2006)

Hunter v. Hamilton Cty. Bd. of Elections, 635 F.3d 219 (6th Cir. 2011)

Roman v. Sincock, 377 U.S. 695 (1964)

Lyman v. Baker, 352 F. Supp. 3d 81 (D. Mass. 2018)

LULAC v. Abbott, 369 F. Supp. 3d 768 (W.D. Tex. 2019)

In re Contest of Gen. Election Held on Nov. 4, 2008, 767 N.W.2d 453 (Minn. 2009)

Iowa Constitution Art. I, § 9

State v. Seering, 701 N.W.2d 655 (Iowa 2005), *superseded by statute on other grounds*, 2009 Iowa Acts ch. 119, § 3 (codified at Iowa Code § 692A.103 (Supp. 2009)), as recognized in *AFSCME Iowa Council 61 v. State*, 928 N.W.2d 21 (Iowa 2019)

Jones v. Univ. of Iowa, 836 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2013)

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1975)

Griffin v. Pate, 884 N.W.2d 182 (Iowa 2016)

Wesberry v. Sanders, 376 U.S. 1 (1964), *cited with approval in Devine v. Wonderlich*, 268 N.W.2d 620, 623 (Iowa 1978)

League of United Latin Am. Citizens of Iowa v. Pate, No. CVCV056403 (Iowa Dist. Ct. Polk Cty. Jan. 23, 2019)

2. Did Plaintiffs satisfy the other elements of a temporary injunction?

N.C. State Conference of the NAACP v. N.C. State Bd. of Elections, No. 1:16CV1274, 2016 WL 6581284 (M.D.N.C. Nov. 4, 2016)

Sear v. Clayton Cty. Zoning Bd. of Adjustment, 590 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 1999)

Obama for Am. v. Husted, 697 F.3d 423 (6th Cir. 2012)

Williams v. Salerno, 792 F.2d 323 (2d Cir. 1986)

Ney v. Ney, 891 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

League of Women Voters of U.S. v. Newby, 838 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 2016)

Planned Parenthood of Mid-Iowa v. Maki, 478 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 1991)

Nelson v. Nat'l Aeronautics & Space Admin., 530 F.3d 865 (9th Cir. 2008), *rev'd on other grounds*, 562 U.S. 134 (2011)

Boston Correll v. Herring, 212 F. Supp. 3d 584 (E.D. Va. 2016)

Terrace v. Thompson, 263 U.S. 197 (1923)

Kriener v. Turkey Valley Cmty. Sch. Dist., 212 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 1973)

Matlock v. Weets, 531 N.W.2d 118 (Iowa 1995)

Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1 (2006)

Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330 (1972)

Hunter v. Hamilton Cty. Bd. of Elections, 635 F.3d 219 (6th Cir. 2011)

Doe v. Walker, 746 F. Supp. 2d 667 (D. Md. 2010)

League of Women Voters of N.C. v. North Carolina, 769 F.3d 224 (4th Cir. 2014)

U.S. Student Ass'n Found. v. Land, 546 F.3d 373 (6th Cir. 2008)

3. Does the Purcell principle apply?

Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1 (2006)

Republican Party of Pennsylvania v. Cortes, 218 F. Supp. 3d 396 (E.D. Pa. 2016)

Democratic Senatorial Campaign Comm. v. Pate, No. 20-1281 (Iowa Oct. 14, 2020).

Veasey v. Perry, 769 F.3d 890 (5th Cir. 2014)

Frank v. Walker, 135 S. Ct. 7 (2014) (mem.) (same)

Husted v. Ohio State Conference of NAACP, 135 S. Ct. 42 (2014)

North Carolina v. League of Women Voters, 135 S. Ct. 6 (2014) (mem.)

Republican Nat'l Comm. v. Democratic Nat'l Comm., Case No. 19A1916, slip op. (U.S. Apr. 6, 2020)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court has retained this interlocutory appeal. (10/14/2020 Order.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

All registered Iowa voters are eligible to cast absentee ballots. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, voters are relying heavily on absentee voting to safely exercise their fundamental right to vote in the November general election. The Secretary of State has encouraged voters to do so by mailing absentee ballot requests to every registered active Iowa voter. As of the date of this brief, county auditors were still receiving and processing thousands of absentee ballot requests—and will keep receiving such requests through October 24.¹ The nearer the election looms, the more critical it becomes that auditors be able to process those requests as expeditiously as possible so that voters may receive their ballots, vote, and mail them back in time to be counted. Under Iowa law,

¹ Office of the Secretary of State, November General Election Absentee Ballot Statistics, <https://sos.iowa.gov/elections/pdf/2020/general/AbsenteeCongressional2020.pdf> (last updated Oct. 15, 2020) (reporting 768,735 absentee ballots requests received and over 14,000 still awaiting processing).

absentee ballots not postmarked by November 2 are rejected in their entirety.

Historically, county auditors have been able to rely on the best available means to process absentee ballot request in a timely manner. One of the best available means included referring to the voter registration database (“I-Voters”) to confirm missing or incomplete information. But in July, the legislature passed HF 2643, which prohibits county auditors from using I-Voters to process absentee ballots, instead requiring auditors to seek any and all missing information directly from the voter, and to do so by following a series of steps that guarantees the slowing of processing absentee ballot requests.

Plaintiffs filed their petition challenging HF 2643 on July 14, 2020.² They asserted that HF 2643 (1) unduly burdens the fundamental right to vote in violation of the Iowa Constitution; (2) violates the Iowa Constitution’s Equal Protection Clause; and (3) violates the Due Process guarantees of the Iowa Constitution. They asserted that HF 2643 should be subject to strict scrutiny because it necessarily implicates the

² Specifically, Section 124 is the operative section being challenged. For simplicity, Plaintiffs refer to “HF 2643”.

fundamental right to vote. Plaintiffs submitted multiple uncontested declarations from county election officials documenting the detrimental impact HF 2643 will have on their ability to timely process absentee ballot requests. Plaintiffs also submitted undisputed expert testimony establishing that HF 2643 ties the hands of county auditors (without any added benefit to election security) from engaging in a long-standing and efficient practice to complete absentee ballot requests, thereby creating a serious risk that any voter who requests an absentee ballot on or after October 20, 2020, or potentially even earlier, will not have their ballot counted. (08/10/2020 Declaration of Eitan Hersch (“Hersch Decl.”) ¶ 28, 47; *see generally* 08/10/2020 Declaration of Travis Weipert (“Weipert Decl.”); 08/10/2020 Declaration of Joel Miller (“Miller Decl.”); 08/10/2020 Declaration of Roxanna Moritz (“ISACA Decl.”); 08/10/2020 Declaration of Patrick Gill (“Gill Decl.”); 08/10/2020 Declaration of Jessica Lara (“Lara Decl.”).)

Indeed, USPS itself has effectively warned that voters who submit an absentee ballot request up to ten days before the October 14 deadline are at risk of not having their ballot counted. (08/10/2020 Hersch Decl ¶ 28; *see* Declaration of Christopher Bryant (“Bryant Decl.”), Ex. 15 at 2.)

Plaintiffs' petition named Secretary Pate as the Defendant. Shortly after Plaintiffs filed, a group of Republican Party and campaign organizations (the "Intervenors") sought and were granted intervention.

In opposing Plaintiffs' motion for a temporary injunction, Secretary Pate did not contest any of Plaintiffs' factual allegations regarding HF 2643's impact on county auditors' ability to timely process absentee ballot requests. Instead, he argued that, despite the fact that HF 2643 impacted the safest way to exercise the right to vote during a pandemic, it did not implicate the fundamental right to vote, and therefore should be reviewed with a "rational basis" analysis. The Secretary asserted HF 2643 was supported by the state's interest in election security. He offered no facts indicating there were security or fraud concerns with absentee ballot requests before HF 2643 or that HF 2643 made voting by absentee ballot more secure. Intervenors made similar arguments as the Secretary.

The district court acknowledged that Secretary Pate did not contest most of Plaintiffs' factual allegations regarding COVID-19 and the impact of HF 2643. (09/5/20 Order at 11.) It then held that HF 2643 was likely to be found "not to involve the right to vote" because it is "related

to a request for an absentee ballot.” (09/5/20 Order at 15.) It then applied rational basis review to each of Plaintiffs’ claims and denied their motion for a temporary injunction. (09/5/20 Order.)

The district court erred. HF 2643 burdens the fundamental right to vote and should have been subject to strict scrutiny. Regardless, Plaintiffs prevail under any level of scrutiny because HF 2643 is not supported by any cognizable state interest. HF 2643 also violates the Equal Protection and Due Process Clauses of the Iowa Constitution.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Iowa law authorizes absentee voting without excuse, a right a record number of Iowans are exercising in the ongoing pandemic.

As of October 15, 2020, more than 768,000 Iowans have requested absentee ballots for the November election, and more than 14,000 of those requests were still being processed.³ At this time during the 2016 general election, 422,048 Iowans had requested absentee ballots and only 2,530

³ Office of the Secretary of State, *November General Election Absentee Ballot Statistics*, <https://sos.iowa.gov/elections/pdf/2020/general/AbsenteeCongressional2020.pdf>, (last updated Sep. 30, 2020).

remained to be processed—county auditors are now faced with an *over 450% increase in pending requests* compared to 2016.⁴

Iowa election officials have encouraged voters to vote by absentee ballot in the general election. They have been preparing for that election with the assumption that absentee voting will be widespread because of both the pandemic and encouragement to vote by absentee ballot from elections officials all the way up to the Secretary.⁵

For decades, Iowa law has broadly permitted any voter in Iowa to vote absentee. Iowa Code § 53.2(1)(a). Voters seeking to do so must submit a request to their county auditor. That request must contain certain information, including the voter’s date of birth, permanent address, and their voter verification number. Iowa Code § 53.2(4)(a); (08/10/2020 Bryant Decl., Ex. 11.)

⁴ Office of the Secretary of State, *November General Election Absentee Ballot Statistics*, <https://sos.iowa.gov/elections/pdf/2016/general/AbsenteeCongressional2016.pdf> (last visited Oct 15, 2020) (reporting 422,048 requested absentee ballots and 419,518 sent absentee ballots on October 20, 2016).

⁵ James Lynch, *Pate predicts 80% absentee voting in November*, Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier (Sept. 10, 2020), https://wfcourier.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/pate-predicts-80-absentee-voting-in-november/article_52e175a1-832b-57fb-8a50-36dbbd3bc668.html.

The voter verification number is the voter's Iowa driver's license or non-operator identification number, or the Voter PIN (collectively, the "ID Number"). Voter PINs are issued on Voter Identification Cards ("Voter ID Card") sent to voters who do not have an Iowa-issued driver's license or non-operator ID. (*Id.*, Ex. 1.) Voter ID Cards were first mailed to voters without an Iowa driver's license or non-operator ID in December 2017, and thereafter to new registrants only. (*Id.*, Ex. 2.)

Iowa permits voters to submit requests for absentee ballots up until 5 p.m. ten days before a general election. (*Id.*, Ex. 3); Iowa Code § 53.2(1)(b) (adopting by reference voter registration deadline, Iowa Code § 48A.9(1)). For the November 3, 2020, general election, that means Iowa voters may request absentee ballots up until October 24. Requests received up to and on October 24 must be processed by the county auditor's office, and only then will the absentee ballot be mailed by the county auditor to the voter. Iowa Code § 53.2(1)(b). To be counted, mailed absentee ballots must be postmarked by the Monday before election day (November 2) and received by noon on the Monday following the election. Iowa Code § 53.17(2).

II. Absentee voting resulted in record turnout in the June primary.

Since early in the pandemic, Secretary Pate has advised voters that “[t]he safest way to vote [is] by mail.” (08/10/2020 Bryant Decl., Ex. 4.) To facilitate this, the Secretary sent every active registered voter an absentee ballot request form prior to the June primary and “encourage[d] all eligible Iowans who want to vote in the primary to use the absentee method.” (*Id.*, Ex. 5.) Voters responded enthusiastically: the primary saw record-shattering numbers of absentee ballot requests. (*Id.*, Ex. 6.) The Secretary received widespread praise for running such a successful election in the middle of the pandemic, at a time when virtually every other state that had a primary was being justly criticized for widespread chaos and disenfranchisement. (*See, e.g., id.*, Ex. 6, 8.)

III. HF 2643 imposes entirely avoidable delays in processing absentee ballot requests, threatening lawful Iowa voters’ right to vote without sufficient justification.

Rather than applaud the wildly successful primary election, the legislature abruptly changed the law regarding how auditors had processed absentee ballot requests for decades by passing HF 2643.

Prior to the enactment of HF 2643, county auditors were directed to use “the best means available” to fill in missing information from an absentee ballot request if the application otherwise included sufficient

information to verify the voter's identity to the auditor's satisfaction. HF 2643 § 124; Iowa Code § 53.2(4)(b). In particular, voters often omit the Voter ID altogether—not knowing what it is—or put down the wrong combination of numbers, either through accidental transposition or by transcription error. (08/10/2020 Lara Decl. ¶ 5.) This is particularly true for voters who lack an Iowa driver's license or Non-Operator ID, whose ID Number for absentee voting purposes is the four-digit Voter PIN printed on a Voter ID Card that they may not even realize they were ever issued. (*Id.*; *see also* 08/10/2020 Gill Decl. ¶ 4.) Because Voter ID Cards for many voters were last issued three years ago, many voters may have since misplaced the card, or have no memory of receiving it. (*See* 08/10/2020 Weipert Decl. ¶ 4.) This issue is so persistent that even when one county auditor mailed blank request forms to all voters in advance of a July special election and included a separate piece of paper with form that included the Voter PIN, more than 18% of applicants *still* failed to transcribe it on the request they submitted, or got the number wrong. (08/10/2020 Gill Decl. ¶ 5.)

To fix a missing or erroneous Voter ID, county auditors had, for years, often referred to I-Voters, the voter registration database, a

practice that enabled them to promptly and efficiently process voters' absentee ballot requests, and to do so without any known incidents of fraud. (08/10/2020 ISACA Decl. ¶ 16; *see also* 08/10/2020 Weipert Decl. ¶ 12.) This was not "guessing," as the Intervenor assert. (10/05/2020 Intervenor's Resistance at 3.) This was referring to the personally identifiable information available to them on *both* the request and I-Voters, making sure it matched, and filling in one piece of information that was commonly omitted or erroneous. This is no different than, for example, a person calling their bank or utility company and not knowing their account number but being able to sufficiently verify their identity in other ways so that the customer service agent can still access their account. Moreover, county auditors retained discretion to contact voters if needed.

In contrast, under the law as amended by HF 2643, if an absentee ballot request contains *any* mistakes or omissions, auditors may no longer refer to I-Voters or take any steps other than those specifically laid out in HF 2643 itself to process the application. And, HF 2643 requires auditors to engage in an often protracted, unrealistic, and entirely inefficient back and forth with the voter to attempt to obtain information

that, in the case of the four-digit Voter PIN in particular, the voter does not even have to begin with.

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