IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20-1249

LEAGUE OF UNITED LATIN AMERICAN CITIZENS OF IOWA and MAJORITY FORWARD, Plaintiff-Appellants,

VS.

IOWA SECRETARY OF STATE PAUL PATE, Defendant-Appellee

DONALD J. TRUMP FOR PRESIDENT, INC., THE REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, THE NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE, THE NATIONAL REPUBLICAN CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEE, and THE REPUBLICAN PARTY OF IOWA,

Intervenor-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY THE HONORABLE LARS G. ANDERSON, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Denied LULAC's Motion for Temporary Injunction. Preservation of Error

Because the parties are filing final briefs simultaneously in this appeal, the Secretary cannot comment on the preservation of error for any arguments made in LULAC's brief. That said, LULAC argued in the district court that H.F. 2643 burdens the right to vote as well as the due process and equal protection clauses of the Iowa constitution. The district court ruled on those claims and they are preserved for this Court's review. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review

The denial of a temporary injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Lewis Investments, Inc. v. City of Iowa City*, 703 N.W.2d 180, 184 (Iowa 2005). As this Court has held:

¹ In its brief supporting its application for interlocutory appeal, LULAC cites the number of absentee ballots requested as of September 30, 2020. That number was not available to the district court and it is a fact that is not part of the record for this appeal.

[T]he decision to issue or refuse a temporary injunction rests largely within the sound discretion of the district court. We recognize a temporary injunction is a delicate matter, and the exercise of judicial power to issue or refuse a temporary injunction requires great caution, deliberation, and sound discretion. Thus, we will not generally interfere with the district court decision unless the discretion has been abused or the decision violates some principle of equity.

PIC USA v. North Carolina Farm Partnership, 672 N.W.2d 718, 722 (Iowa 2003) (cleaned up).

Merits

An injunction is an "extraordinary remedy" that should not be granted unless "clearly required to avoid irreparable damage." *Planned Parenthood of Mid-Iowa v. Maki*, 478 N.W.2d 637, 639 (Iowa 1991). The court must "carefully weigh the relative hardship which would be incurred by the parties upon the award of injunctive relief." *Maki*, 478 N.W.2d at 639 (citing *Green v. Advance Homes, Inc.*, 293 N.W.2d 204, 208 (Iowa 1980)). This Court has "repeatedly emphasized that the issuance or refusal of a temporary injunction is a delicate matter—an exercise of judicial power which requires great caution, deliberation, and sound discretion." *Kleman v. Charles City Police Dept.*, 373 N.W.2d 90, 96 (Iowa 1985). Perhaps most important, "[a]n injunction will not issue where the right of the complainant, which it is designed to protect, depends upon a disputed question of law about which there may be doubt, which has not been settled by the law of this state." *Iowa State Dept. of Health v. Hertko*, 282 N.W.2d 744, 751 (Iowa 1979) (quoting *Kent Products v. Hoeph*, 61 N.W.2d 711, 714-15 (Iowa 1953)).

To prevail on its motion, LULAC was required to prove (1) that in the absence of an injunction it would suffer irreparable harm, (2) that it was likely to succeed on the merits, and (3) that injunctive relief was warranted considering the circumstances confronting the parties and "balance[ing] the harm that a temporary injunction may prevent against the harm that may result from its issuance." Max 100 L.C. v. Iowa Realty Co., Inc. 621 N.W.2d 178, 181 (Iowa 2001). The showing that LULAC was required to make was especially onerous in this case, as a strong presumption of validity protects statutes from constitutional challenges. Miller v. Iowa Real Estate Commission, 274 N.W2.d 288 (Iowa 1979); State v. Robbins, 257 N.W.2d 63, 67 (Iowa 1977); City of Waterloo v. Selden, 251 N.W.2d 506, 508 (Iowa 1977).

A. LULAC did not show that it was likely to succeed on the merits.

1. Absentee voting and the Iowa Constitution.

LULAC argued in the district court that strict scrutiny applies to their challenge because the law "burdens the right to vote" in violation of article II section 1 of the Iowa Constitution. That section states that eligible electors "shall be entitled to vote at all elections which are now or hereafter may be authorized by law." Iowa Const. art II, § 1. But the challenged law affects only a request for an absentee ballot. This Court has not decided whether the state constitution guarantees a right to receive an absentee ballot, but the United States Supreme Court and other federal circuit courts have held that the federal constitution does not. See McDonald v. Board of Election Commissioners of Chicago, 394 U.S. 802, 807 (1969); see also Kramer v. Union Free Sch. Dist. No. 15, 395 U.S. 621, 627 n.6 (1969) ("In *McDonald*... we were reviewing a statute which made casting a ballot easier for some who were unable to come to the polls ... at issue was not a claimed right to vote but a claimed right to an absentee ballot."); Crawford v. Marion Cty. Election Bd., 553 U.S. 181, 209 (2008) (Scalia, J., concurring in the judgment) ("That the State accommodates some voters by permitting (not requiring) the

casting of absentee or provisional ballots, is an indulgence—not a constitutional imperative that falls short of what is required."); *Mays v. LaRose*, 951 F.3d 775, 792 (6th Cir. 2020) ("There is no constitutional right to an absentee ballot."); *Texas Democratic Party v. Abbott*, 961 F.3d 389, 406 (5th Cir. 2020) ("Because the plaintiffs' fundamental right is not at issue, *McDonald* directs us to review only for a rational basis").

2. Strict scrutiny does not apply because the challenged law does not burden the right to vote.

Iowa courts apply strict scrutiny to laws that abridge the right to vote. *Chiodo v. Section 43.24 Panel*, 846 N.W.2d 845, 848 (Iowa 2014). However, "[n]ot every government action that relates in any way to a fundamental liberty must be subjected to strict-scrutiny analysis ... Instead, the alleged infringement is unconstitutional only when it 'has a direct and substantial impact' on the fundamental right ... Reasonable regulations that do not directly and substantially interfere with the right may be imposed." *McQuistion v. City of Clinton*, 872 N.W.2d 817, 832-33 (Iowa 2015). In *McDonald*, a group of inmates awaiting trial could not go to the polls in person because they were detained in the Cook County jail for nonbailable offenses or because they could not afford bail. *McDonald*, 394 U.S. at 803-04.

The inmates applied for absentee ballots, but their requests were rejected because Illinois law limited absentee voting to a class of voter that did not include individuals detained in jail in their county of residence. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court refused to apply strict scrutiny to the challenge because there was no evidence that that the state would not provide the inmates with another method of voting, such as special voting booths in the jail, guarded transportation to the polls, or temporary bail relief. *Id.*, 394 U.S. at 807-08 & n.6, 7. In its words, the absentee rules did "not themselves deny [the inmates] the exercise of the franchise; nor, indeed, d[id] Illinois' Election Code so operate as a whole[.]" *Id.* at 807-08.

In *Luse v. Wray*, this Court briefly examined whether the constitutionality of an absentee ballot regulation affecting hospital patients should be analyzed strict scrutiny or the rational basis test. 354 N.W.2d 324, 330 (Iowa 1977). First, the Court said that it "ha[s] no doubt that under its power to regulate voting, the legislature could impose the requirements of [the challenged law] on all absentee voters." *Id.* The question in the case, however, was whether the classification of patients rendered the provision invalid. But, no doubt recognizing that the class of "hospital patients" is not a suspect class

for purposes of determining constitutional scrutiny, the Court explained that the question "raises the further inquiry whether the test of constitutionality of the classification is to be the usual one of a rational basis or the more stringent one, *in cases involving certain fundamental rights*, of a compelling state interest." *Id.* (emphasis added). Citing *McDonald*, the Court expressed its view that the rational basis test would apply. *Id.*

In this case, LULAC has argued that the challenged law "burdens the right to vote by creating a needlessly complicated, timeconsuming, and in many cases entirely ineffectual procedure that will significantly delay the process of sending absentee ballots to countless lawful voters." *See* Plaintiff's Mem. Supporting Motion for Temporary Injunction 08/10/20. In the first place, whether election procedures are needlessly complicated, time-consuming, or ineffectual are legislative or administrative judgments.² That said, that is not what the law does. The law requires voters who request absentee ballots to

² As this Court explained in its per curiam decision reversing a stay entered by a Polk County district court, "it is not the role of the court system to evaluate the wisdom or fairness of policy choices made by other branches of government. Actions of the legislative and executive branches may be highly debatable in their wisdom, but that is not a sufficient reason for the judicial branch to substitute something different." *DSCC, et al. v. Pate*, Sup. Ct. No. 20-1281, slip op. at 8 (Iowa Oct. 14, 2020).

provide certain basic identifying information and tasks county auditors with contacting the voter to obtain that information if the voter fails to provide it.

Any alleged burden posed by the law must be measured against the baseline of "the usual burdens of voting." *Crawford v. Marion Cnty. Election Bd.*, 553 U.S. 181, 198 (2008) (opinion of Stevens, J.). For example, in the context of a voter identification requirement in Indiana, the United States Supreme Court observed that "making a trip to the [D]MV, gathering the required documents and posing for a photograph surely do not qualify as a substantial burden on the right to vote," as these acts do not "represent a significant increase over" what voters usually must do to cast a ballot in the first place. *Id.*

LULAC relied almost entirely on an allegation that voters "regularly fail[] to fully or accurately complete their Request Forms." Such failure triggers the auditors' duty to contact the voter, causing a delay in sending absentee ballots to those voters that might prove fatal for incomplete requests sent at or very near the deadline. But voters' failure to comply with the law does not mean the law is unduly burdensome. Moreover, as this Court recognized in the *DSCC* case, Iowa code section 53.2 "unmistakeably requires *the applicant* to

provide the required personal information." *DSCC*, Sup. Ct. No. 20-1281, slip op. at 5 (emphasis in original). LULAC does not challenge the legal requirement that the necessary information be provided by the voter in the as-amended section 53.2(4)(a). It is important to note that Iowa law requires a voter to request an absentee ballot for every election in which the voter votes by absentee ballot. Section 53.2(4)(a) requires the voter to provide the necessary information to request an absentee ballot every time. The law's requirement is not satisfied by a voter having provided the information at some point in the past.

The absentee ballot request form states clearly that "a registered voter **MUST** provide the following necessary information," followed by an explanation of the information that must be provided. *See* Plaintiff's Exh. 11 to Declaration of Christopher Bryant. The form and the instructions also explain that a "Voter Verification Number" means an Iowa driver's license or non-operator identification number or the four-digit PIN located on an Iowa Voter Identification card mailed to voters who do not have either a driver's license or non-operator identification. *Id.* The form itself states that any voter may request a voter identification card from the county auditor. *Id.* The

instructions accompanying the form repeat that statement in bold type. *Id.* The instructions also encourage voters to include a phone number or email address "in the event their County Auditor needs to confirm any information on the request form." *Id.*

As this Court explained in its per curiam decision in the DSCC

case, LULAC's alleged burdens "should be put in perspective":

Iowa is one of only eleven states where the government mailed an absentee ballot application to every registered voter. The absentee voting period began on October 5 and continues through November 2. In person early voting is also allowed during that period. Iowa also allows same-day voter registration. On Election Day itself, the polls will be open in Iowa or fourteen hours, one of the longest time periods afforded in the nation. This is significant for voters who may wish to vote in the traditional way but are concerned about crowded polling places in light of COVID-19.

DSCC, Sup. Ct. No. 20-1281, slip op. at 9. In addition, voters may request absentee ballots up to one hundred and twenty days prior to an election. *See* Iowa Code § 53.2(1) (b).

A voter who waits until the very end and fails to correctly fill out

the request form cannot blame his failure to receive a timely absentee

ballot on the challenged law. See Mays v. LaRose, 951 F.3d 775, 792

(6th Cir. 2020) ("So electors who fail to vote early cannot blame Ohio

law for their inability to vote; they must blame 'their own failure to take timely steps to effect their enrollment.'") (quoting *Rosario v. Rockefeller*, 410 U.S. 752, 758 (1973)). And even then, a voter who requests a ballot but does not receive one can still go to the polls and vote on election day or by early in-person absentee. The Secretary is providing county auditors with personal protective equipment and more than two million dollars of federal grant money to ensure that voters can safely vote in person in each precinct. *See* Declaration of Heidi Burhans ¶ 10.

3. The challenged law survives rational basis review.

Because the challenged law does not burden the right to vote, rational basis review is appropriate both under the Iowa constitution and the federal *Anderson-Burdick* analysis.³ The rational basis test "defers to the legislature's prerogative to make policy decisions by requiring only a plausible policy justification, mere rationality of the facts underlying the decision and, again, a merely rational

³ Under *Anderson-Burdick*, "[m]inimally burdensome and nondiscriminatory regulations are subject to a less-searching examination closer to rational basis and the State's important regulatory interests are generally sufficient to justify the restrictions." *Ohio Democratic Party v. Husted*, 834 F.3d 620, 627 (6th Cir. 2016) (quotations omitted).

relationship between the [state action] and the policy justification." *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 879 (Iowa 2009). And, critically, a justification's sufficiency is generally a "'legislative fact'" that must be accepted if reasonable, not an "'adjudicative fact[]'" subject to courtroom testing. *Frank v. Walker*, 768 F.3d 744, 750 (7th Cir. 2014) (*Frank I*); *see also Crawford*, 553 U.S. at 194–97 (opinion of Stevens, J.); *Husted*, 834 F.3d at 632.

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